IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KEWHAN ROBEY,

Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA BARBARA COUNTY,

Respondent,

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S197735

SUFREME COURT

FEB 1 5 2012

Frequenck K. Chinich Clork

Second Appellate District, Division Six, No. B231019 Santa Barbara County Superior Court No. 1349412 The Honorable Edward Bullard, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOYCE E. DUDLEY
District Attorney of Santa Barbara
MICHAEL J. CARROZZO (161078)
Deputy District Attorney
1112 Santa Barbara Street
Santa Barbara, CA 93101
Telephone: (805) 568-2399
Facsimile: (805) 560-1077
E-mail: mcarrozzo@co.santa-

barbara.ca.us

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Could police conduct a warrantless search of a package smelling of marijuana under a "plain smell" exception to the warrant requirement?
- 2. Could police conduct a warrantless search of the package because the mobility of the box created exigent circumstances even after an

officer seized the package from a common carrier and held it at the police station?

INTRODUCTION

It has been over 40 years since this Court decided *People v. Marshall* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 51. It has been almost as long since the concurring opinion of Justice Mosk in *Guidi v. Superior Court* (1973) 10 Cal. 3d 1, confirmed that the sense of smell should be given "equal weight" to plain view. Yet, today the People ask the Supreme Court of California to endorse the "plain smell" exception to the warrant requirement in California.

In this case, Petitioner filed a motion to suppress evidence, which was denied by the Santa Barbara Superior Court. Petitioner filed a writ of mandate which was granted by the Court of Appeal. The People filed the instant Petition for Review with the California Supreme Court.

There is no doubt that shipments of marijuana from California to other states are increasing with the advent of "medical marijuana". This increase in marijuana trafficking through the mail requires law enforcement to fortify their interdiction efforts. Acknowledgement by this Court that the "plain smell" exception to the warrant requirement exists will bolster law

The U.S. Postal Inspection Service's seizures of marijuana parcels have increased by more than 400 percent since 2007. There was an 84 percent increase in the amount of marijuana seized from 2007 to 2008 and a 180 percent increase between years 2008 and 2009. Postal Inspectors uncovered 8,453 pounds of marijuana in 2007, 15,521 pounds in 2008, and 43,403 pounds in 2009. In that same period, the total number of inspectors has remained relatively constant. Of the 3,621 parcels of marijuana intercepted by inspectors nationwide in 2009, 75 percent were in the border towns of Texas, New Mexico, Arizona, and California. Sandholm, Marijuana Shipments Skyrocket, ABC News (March 16, 2010)

enforcement's ability to respond to the increase in illegal marijuana transportation.²

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 17, 2010, following a preliminary hearing in the Santa Barbara County Superior Court, Petitioner was held to answer for charges of possession of marijuana for sale (Health and Saf. Code §11359) and sale or transportation of marijuana (Health and Saf. Code §11360, subd. (a)). On January 20, 2011, the Superior Court conducted a hearing on Petitioner's motion to suppress evidence and denied that motion. On February 18, 2011, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal. On March 3, 2011, the Court of Appeal sent a letter to the Santa Barbara County District Attorney's Office, requesting that the People submit an informal opposition to the petition for writ of mandate. On April 7, 2011, the Court of Appeal issued an order to show cause. The Office of the Attorney General submitted an amicus curiae brief and the matter was heard on August 18, 2011.

The Court of Appeal issued a published decision on October 24, 2011. The decision failed to properly follow prevailing state and federal case law; e.g., *United States v. Place* (1983) 462 U.S. 696; *People v. McKinnon* (1972) 7 Cal. 3d 899; *People v. Gale* (1973) 9 Cal. 3d 788; *Chambers v. Maroney* (1970) 399 U.S. 42; and *Carroll v. United States*, (1925) 267 U.S. 132. The published decision of the Court of Appeal contradicted treatises, and misconstrued other California case law.

² In 2006, the California Department of Justice reported that the Campaign Against Marijuana Planting (CAMP) resulted in the seizure of 1,675,681 marijuana plants in California, worth an estimated \$6.7 billion dollars. There has been a steady and rapid increase in seizures since 1996 (approximately 100,000 plants seized).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal erred in finding that the "plain smell" doctrine does not exist. The Court of Appeal's interpretation of prior decisional authority in California was in error. The Court of Appeal's interpretation of *Guidi v. Superior Court* (1973) 10 Cal.3d 1 and *People v. Marshall* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 51, that the California Supreme Court has rejected the "plain smell" exception to the warrant requirement is incorrect. The *Marshall* Court held that a warrantless search on the basis of odor alone was unconstitutional, and that "plain smell" is not equivalent to "plain view." (*People v. Marshall, supra,* 69 Cal.2d at p. 59.) However, in *People v. Gale*, the California Supreme Court concluded when an officer smelled marijuana from a vehicle, that law enforcement officer has "probable cause to believe...that contraband may be present." (*People v. Gale,* (1973) 9 Cal. 3d 788, 794).

The Court held that when the marijuana was located "...in an automobile parked in a public lot - unlocked, accessible, and readily movable - the same probable cause would have justified the subsequent search of each vehicle under the rationale of *Carroll v. United States*, 267 U.S. 132 69 L.Ed. 543, 45 S.Ct. 280, 39 A.L.R. 790, and its progeny." *Ibid.* The *Gale* case is significant in that it provides a close analogy to the instant case as to a highly mobile object, in a public location, containing a narcotic that is readily sensed with smell. When the holding of *Gale* is combined with *Chambers v. Maroney* (1970) 399 U.S. 42, 52, it reveals that law enforcement may search the mobile object either at the scene or at the police station. Neither location matters for a Fourth Amendment analysis.

The Court of Appeal also misapplied the rationale of *People v. McKinnon* (1972) 7 Cal. 3d 899, which does not require a search warrant when a package is highly mobile. Prevailing case law holds that where law

enforcement detects narcotics by smell from a highly mobile object, law enforcement may seize and search the object. The key to this line of cases is the interaction of the detection of the narcotic via the senses combined with its placement in a highly mobile object. The Court of Appeal failed to apply the rationale of *People v. McKinnon* in this case. The Petitioner contends that *People v. McKinnon* does not require a search warrant, contrary to the decision issued by the Court of Appeal. The *McKinnon* Court expressly holds that a warrant is not required to search a package where probable cause exists. (*Ibid* at 916-917).

ARGUMENT

I. A WARRANTLESS SEARCH IS LEGAL UNDER THE PLAIN SMELL DOCTRINE.

A. Expectation of Privacy

A threshold issue to any search and search analysis is whether the defendant had a subjective expectation of privacy in the item and that there was an objective right to privacy that society is prepared to accept. "The legitimacy of the expectation of privacy is determined under the totality of the circumstances." (*People v. Tolliver* (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 1231, 1239.) A defendant bears the burden of proving a legitimate expectation of privacy. (*Rawlings v. Kentucky* (1980) 448 U.S. 98, 104; *People v. Roybal* (1988) 19 Cal.4th 481 at p. 507; *People v. Tolliver, supra*, at p. 1239.)

"Whether the defendant had a legitimate expectation of privacy is subject to a two-part test: (1) did the defendant manifest a subjective expectation of privacy in the object of the search? and (2) is society willing to recognize the expectation of privacy as legitimate? (*California v. Ciraolo* (1986) 476 U.S. 207, 211.)" (*People v. Tolliver, supra*, 160 Cal.App.4th at p. 1239.) In other words, the defendant's subjective

expectation of privacy must be objectively reasonable under the circumstances. (*Smith v. Maryland* (1979) 442 U.S. 735, 740.)

The courts have specifically rejected several theories advanced to broaden the legitimate expectation of privacy of defendants whose personal rights have not been violated by police conduct. For example, a defendant does not gain an expectation of privacy simply because he or she is charged with possession of the property sought to be suppressed. (*United States v. Salvucci* (1980) 448 U.S. 83, 85; see also, *People v. Ooley* (1985) 169 Cal.App.3d 197, 202; *People v. Root* (1985) 172 Cal.App.3d 774, 778-779.) Even the defendant's ownership of the property itself is insufficient to create a legitimate expectation of privacy. (*United States v. Salvucci, supra.*)

In this case, the Petitioner voluntarily decided to use Federal Express to ship marijuana. Petitioner knew or should have known that Federal Express has a policy against shipping marijuana. Petitioner also knew or should have known that Federal Express has a policy which allows the company to open any an all packages received. Petitioner also used a false name and address when he shipped the package. Lastly, the marijuana was so poorly packaged that anyone who came within several feet of the package could smell the contents of the package.

Using a fake name and address when consigning a package, that reeks of marijuana, to Federal Express for shipment has a lower level of privacy protection than a dwelling, vehicle or even a piece of luggage. The United States Supreme Court in *United States v. Johns* (1985) 469 U.S. 478, held that, "[w]e have previously held that certain containers may not support a reasonable expectation of privacy because their contents can be inferred from their outward appearance [citations omitted], and based on this rationale the Fourth Circuit has held that 'plain odor' may justify a warrantless search of a container."

It has long been settled, that "a warrantless search and seizure involving abandoned property is not unlawful, because a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in such property. [Citations.]" (*People v. Parson* (2009) 44 Cal.4th 332, 345 (*Parson*); see also, *People v. Pereira* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 1106, 1112; *People v. Daggs* (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 361, 365 (*Daggs*). "Case law establishes that abandonment is primarily a question of the defendant's intent, as determined by objective factors such as the defendant's words and actions. (*Parson*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 347. "The appropriate test is whether defendant's words or actions would cause a reasonable person in the searching officer's position to believe that the property was abandoned." (*People v. Pereira*, *supra*, 150 Cal.App.4th at p. 1113, citing *Daggs*, *supra*, 133 Cal.App.4th at pp. 365-366.) As discussed above, Petitioner's actions of using a false name and address indicate that he abandoned his interest in the property.

Therefore, Petitioner had no subject expectation of privacy which society should recognize as legitimate. In other words, shipping a pound of marijuana, in a package that reeks of marijuana, out of state, using a false name and address, is not a privacy interest society should conclude is legitimate.

B. Plain Smell Rationale

The Court of Appeal decision that "to smell it is not the same as to see it" (COA Decision p. 1), thereby negating the "plain smell" doctrine, is contrary to many treatises and other court rulings. In fact, there is no logical basis to conclude that an officer's sense of smell provides any less basis for probable cause than his or her sight. Logically, "plain smell" is an exception to the warrant requirement under the Fourth Amendment akin to plain view. Moreover, the United States Supreme Court has expanded

plain view to include "plain feel" in *Minnesota v. Dickerson* (1993) 508 U.S. 366 and "plain hearing" in *Hoffa v. United States* (1966) 385 U.S. 293.

In the California Judges Benchbook Search and Seizure, 2nd edition 2002 (CEB), Published by Judicial Counsel of California, "Plain Smell" is listed under the heading of plain view, Section 5.13. In the benchbook guide, it simply states, "plain view principles apply by analogy to other senses other, such as: Plain smell ..." The bench guide then goes on to list several of the authorities Petitioner has likewise submitted to the Court. Yet, the Second District Court of Appeal states their reluctance to find a "plain smell" in this case noting, "[w]e recognize that a number of exceptions exist, but we are wary of creating another one under the facts of this case." (COA Decision p. 7)

One issue is whether "plain smell" is as accurate as plain view. To that end, the ability of human beings to smell marijuana through plastic has been scientifically studied. A scientific study was conducted using the University of Pennsylvania Smell Identification Test (UPSIT). University researchers were able to demonstrate that the odor arising from 2.5 kg of processed marijuana was clearly discernable to the average human through a tightly sealed garbage bag sniffed at close range. Thus, the question is confirmed that the officers involved in this case could detect and smell marijuana accurately under circumstances such as those presented here.

There is no reason to consider this detection of odor by law enforcement any less accurate than the observation of seeing a white powdery substance contained in plastic baggies which are in plain view. While an officer may make a mistake in identifying the odor of marijuana, he or she is also vulnerable to misidentifying baking soda as cocaine, for

³ Doty, Marijuana Odor Perception: Studies Modeled From Probable Cause Cases, Law and Human Behavior, Vol. 28, No. 2 (April 2004)

example. Yet, the possible of such a mistake does not render the plain view doctrine invalid. Thus, there is no logical reason to doubt an officer's testimony that he or she smelled something that smelled like marijuana, if the courts are willing to accept that officer can testify that he or she saw something that looked like cocaine.

The courts have long held that a canine sniff of a package is not a violation of the Fourth Amendment and provides probable cause. (*United States v. Place* (1983) 462 U.S. 696; *Illinois v. Caballes* (2005) 543 U.S. 405.) There is also no reason for distinguishing between the reliability of a dog and the ability of a trained police officer. While the dog has more advanced ability to detect remote or subtle smells such as those arising from something hidden in automobile trunks, in some cases, such as the case at bar, the human nose can be just as accurate when a large amount of the pungent narcotic is placed right under the human nose.

The "plain smell" doctrine has been upheld in many courts throughout the United States. In 2008, the Virginia's Court of Appeals permitted a search based on the smell of raw marijuana, saying: "As many courts have held, if an officer smells the odor of marijuana in circumstances where the officer can localize its source to a person, the officer has probable cause to believe that the person has committed or is committing the crime of possession of marijuana." *Bunch v. Virginia* (2008) 51 Va. App. 491, 496, 658 S.E.2d 724 (approvingly quoting *United States. v. Humphries* (4th Cir. 2004) 372 F.3d 653, 660, *Humphries* substantially relies on *United States v. Scheetz* (4th Cir. 2002) 293 F.3d 175. In turn, *Scheetz* relies heavily on the Tenth Circuit decision in *United States v. Morin* (10th Cir. 1991) 949 F.2d 297.

The court in *Morin* held that, "[t]his court has long recognized that marijuana has a distinct smell and that the odor of marijuana alone can satisfy the probable cause requirement to search a vehicle or baggage.

United States v. Merryman (10th Cir. 1980) 630 F.2d 780, 785; United States v. Sperow (10th Cir. 1977) 551 F.2d 808, 811 cert. denied, 431 U.S. 930, 53 L. Ed. 2d 245, 97 S. Ct. 2634 (1977); United States v. Bowman (10th Cir. 1973) 487 F.2d 1229, 1231" (Morin, 949 F.2d at 300).

In *Bowman*, the court held, "[i]n our disposition of this issue, we do not write on a clean judicial slate. It is well settled within the Ninth Circuit that smell alone is sufficient to constitute probable cause for a subsequent search for marijuana. *United States v. Barron* (9th Cir. 1973) 472 F.2d 1215, *cert. den.*, 413 U.S. 920, 93 S. Ct. 3063, 37 L. Ed. 2d 1041 (1973); *United States v. Campos* (9th Cir. 1972) 471 F.2d 296; *Fernandez v. United States* (9th Cir. 1963), 321 F.2d 283." *Bowman*, 487 F.2d at 1230.

In other words, in some cases the odor is so obvious that it does not take a trained dog to identify the smell. Whether contraband is in "plain view", "plain feel," or "plain smell," the rationale is the same. If an officer is in a place where he or she is lawfully entitled to be and immediately recognizes contraband through one of his or her senses and seizes it there is no violation of the Fourth Amendment.

While the Court of Appeal relied heavily on the *Marshall* case, it does not have much application to the present case. The *Marshall* case dealt with a residential entry and search, not the seizure of a package consigned to a third party business for shipment. Also, as *Witkin* points out, the applicable portion of *Marshall* has been overruled by *People v*. *Cook* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 663 at p. 668, fn. 4. (4 Witkin & Epstein, Cal. Criminal Law (3d Ed. 2000) Illegally Obtained Evidence § 286, pp. 947-950 & *id.* (2010 supp.) p. 308 [noting *Marshall* has been repudiated and citing several treatises providing that warrantless search based on odor of narcotics is constitutional].)

Further, *Guidi* is not precedent rejecting the "plain smell" doctrine. Rather, *Guidi* constitutes precedent which effectively overrules *Marshall*, since a majority of the Court (three Justices plus Justice Mosk) agreed with that part of Justice Mosk's concurring opinion stating that smell has "equal weight" as sight in determining probable cause to search and seize. (*Guidi v. Superior Court, supra,* 10 Cal.3d at p. 20)

All the majority of the sharply divided court permitted in *Marshall* was that 'officers may rely on their sense of smell to confirm their observation of already visible contraband... It was that unreasonable restriction which I decried in my dissent... I insisted then, and continue to believe, that the sense of smell, and indeed all the senses, may be employed, not merely in confirmation of what is already visible, but in equal weight with the sense of sight in the determination of probable cause to search and seize. For illustrations that demonstrate the impracticality of limiting valid discovery of evidence to that which is seen, or to the use of other senses merely in corroboration of what is already known or visible... (*Guidi v. Superior Court* (1973) 10 Cal.3d 1, 20).

Therefore, the result in *Guidi* was a *pro tanto* overruling of *Marshall* as to the particular issue. In fact, Westlaw Next indicates in its heading summary that *Marshall* was overruled by *Guidi*. ⁴

The Court of Appeal decision invited this Court to rule on the issue of "plain smell" by stating "Does the passage of 43 years since Marshall was decided warrant (pardon the expression) reconsideration of Mosk's view?" (COA Decision p. 6) The decision went even further by suggesting that the logic of the People's argument was sound, but the Court of Appeal was restrained by precedent:

⁴ "Seizure of bag containing hashish as evidence of the offense of offering hashish for sale was constitutionally reasonable where the bag had been described by informer in advance to the arresting officers, where the bag, when seen in plain view in kitchen, considering the way it was neatly folded, discounted its use as a trash bag, and where officer also detected an odor of hashish which was strongest near the bag; overruling *People v. Marshall*, 69 Cal.2d 51, 69 Cal.Rptr. 585, 442 P.2d 665."

The People argue that no distinction exists between something that is apparent to the sense of smell and something that is apparent to the sense of sight. We comprehend the logic of the argument. But we cannot hold the seizure proper. Our Supreme Court has not endorsed this view when probable cause is based on odor alone. (COA Decision p. 5)

As another Court of Appeal succinctly noted, "Marshall does not state a rule applicable to the use of smell in determining probable cause to believe a crime has been committed or contraband is present. (People v. Christensen (1969) 2 Cal. App. 3d 546, 548-49)." The Court of Appeal's reliance on Marshall and its holding is misplaced in denying that odor could be a basis for probable cause and a search of the package.

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