IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KEWHAN ROBEY,))
Petitioner, v.)) Case No. S197735
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SANTA BARBARA,))))
Respondent,	SUPREME COURT FILED
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	APR 2 5 2012
Real Party in Interest.	Frederick K. Ohirich Clark Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Six, No. B231019 Santa Barbara County Superior Court No. 1349412 The Honorable Edward Bullard, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF

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

Amendment conflates seizures and searches, treating a seizure the same as a search. This not the law and should not be the law. "Plain view" has never meant that whatever an officer lays eyes upon, the officer can examine. ⁴ For a search to be lawful, an officer must be able to invoke an appropriate exception to the warrant requirement, in addition to claiming the object to be searched was in "plain view". From the very first, Justice Stewart's seminal opinion in *Coolidge v. New Hampshire* (1971) 403 U.S. 443 explicitly imposes this limitation on the doctrine of "plain view":

The limits on the doctrine are implicit in the statement of its rationale. The first of these is that plain view alone is never enough to justify the warrantless seizure of evidence. This is simply a corollary of the familiar principle discussed above, that no amount of probable cause can justify a warrantless search or seizure absent 'exigent circumstances.' Incontrovertible testimony of the senses that an incriminating object is on premises belonging to a criminal

Seeing something in open view does not, of course, dispose, ipso facto, of the problem of crossing constitutionally protected thresholds. Those who thoughtlessly over-apply the plain view doctrine to every situation where there is a visual open view have not yet learned the simple lesson long since mastered by old hands at the burlesque houses, "You can't touch everything you can see."

Light waves cross thresholds with a constitutional impunity not permitted arms and legs. Wherever the eye may go, the body of the policeman may not necessarily follow.

1 Search & Seizure § 2.2 (4th ed.) [Westlaw, LaFave, "Search and Seizure A Treatise On The Fourth Amendment, § 2.2"]

⁴ Opening Brief on The Merits (OBM), pg 7, "...Logically, 'plain smell' is an exception to the warrant requirement under the Fourth Amendment akin to plain view." In his treatise, "Search and Seizure: A Treatise On The Fourth Amendment", Professor LaFave quotes a law review article by Judge Moylan [Moylan, The Plain View Doctrine: Unexpected Child of the Great "Search Incident" Geography Battle, 26 Mercer L.Rev. 1047, 1073–78, 1081–88 (1975).] to colorfully refute this sentiment:

suspect may establish the fullest possible measure of probable cause. But even where the object is contraband, this Court has repeatedly stated and enforced the basic rule that the police may not enter and make a warrantless seizure.

Coolidge v. New Hampshire (1971) 403 U.S. 443, 468 [91 S.Ct. 2022, 2039, 29 L.Ed.2d 564] [Citations Omitted]

Real Party fails to acknowledge that the purpose of a search is to look inside a container to determine what is inside it; when that determination can be made by simply looking at the object, no search has occurred. There is nothing more that needs to be done. ⁵ In contrast, detecting an odor does not determine the content of a container. Because odors linger and vary in strength, an odor cannot indicate what is inside a container or when the suspected substance might have been placed there. Odor is but one indicia of what might be within a container, but it is neither the only indicia nor the best indicia of its contents. You still need to see (search) to determine the contents; smelling is not and cannot be seeing. ⁶

Real Party raises the question whether the ability to detect contraband by its odor has been demonstrated; bolstering his argument that "plain smell" is as accurate as "plain view" in locating contraband by asserting a scientific study conducted by Professor Doty of the ability to smell marijuana through plastic.

(Doty, Marijuana Odor Perception: Studies Modeled From Probable Cause Cases, Law and Human Behavior, Vol 28, No. 2, (April 2004); cited at Brief, pg.

⁵ Or, perhaps more to the point, no search has taken place. "Search" consists of looking for or seeking out that which is otherwise concealed from view. People v. Carlson, Colo., 677 P.2d 310, 316." Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition, p. 1349. (Emphasis added). One who leaves or places an object in the open can have no reasonable expectation of privacy, the object is visible to all and no search is needed. That is not the case when someone hides an object from view by placing it inside of a container.

⁶ In this sense, the *Robey* Court's evaluation was correct; "to smell is not the same thing as to see."

8).⁷ Real Party completely misreads the findings of this study. The study sought to replicate the fact pattern in two California cases in which the smell of marijuana provided the basis for warrantless searches; one an automobile search and the other the search of a marijuana "grow house" to determine how accurately marijuana might be smelled. The study's conclusion refutes Real Party's assertion. The authors wrote:

"The present findings throw into question, in two specific instances, the validity of observations made by law enforcement officers using the sense of smell to discern the presence of marijuana. Although these instances reflect a very small set of studies with very specific constraints they do suggest that a blanket acceptance of testimony based upon reported detection of odors for probable cause is questionable and that empirical data to support or refute such testimony in specific cases is sorely needed."

Doty, et. Al., Marijuana Odor Perception: Studies Modeled From Probable Cause Cases, Law and Human Behavior, Vol 28, No. 2 (April 2004)

At its core, this is what this case is about: Under what circumstances can an officer open a container to determine its contents without having to obtain a warrant.

In *Guidi*, the officer could seize the container (paper bag) and subsequently search it because in addition to the odor of hashish, the office had other information that permitted him to suspect the paper bag had some evidentiary value in the case under investigation. In Mr. Robey's case, the officers failed to conduct any additional investigation that might warrant a further search. For example, the officers did not investigate whether the nominal recipient of the package existed, whether the address on the package could be located, and if the recipient's address on the package existed, whether the recipient was aware of the package's contents or the possibility the package contained contraband, or whether

⁷ The complete study can be located at: http://norml.org/pdf files/brief bank/marijuanaodorstudy.pdf

the nominal sender of the package existed and could himself be located. Had any of these additional indicia been investigated, the result in this case might well have been different. Once the officers took control of the package from Fed Ex, they had ample opportunity to further investigate or to seek a telephonic search warrant, a quick and convenient method of obtaining judicial approval to search a container. (See: Penal Code sec. 1526)

This is a container search. In *California v. Acevedo* (1991) 500 U.S. 565, 580 [111 S.Ct. 1982, 1991, 114 L.Ed.2d 619], our Supreme Court provided well-defined parameters for container searches by explaining that when officers have probable cause to believe contraband or other evidence is present within a container inside of an automobile, they may search a closed container in a vehicle, without a warrant. Otherwise, officers require a warrant in order to search a closed container:

Our holding today neither extends the *Carroll* doctrine nor broadens the scope of the permissible automobile search delineated in *Carroll*, *Chambers*, and *Ross*. It remains a "cardinal principle that 'searches conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment-subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.' "*Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 390, 98 S.Ct. 2408, 2412, 57 L.Ed.2d 290 (1978), quoting *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S.Ct. 507, 514, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967) (footnotes omitted). We held in *Ross*: "The exception recognized in *Carroll* is unquestionably one that is 'specifically established and well delineated.' "456 U.S., at 825, 102 S.Ct., at 514

California v. Acevedo (1991) 500 U.S. 565, 580 [111 S.Ct. 1982, 1991, 114 L.Ed.2d 619]

Even if we were to assume the circumstances under which the container searched in the present case provided the officers probable cause to believe it contained contraband, the container was not found within an automobile, does not come under the *Acevedo* rule, or fall within any exception permitting a search without a warrant.

Real Party urges this court to uphold this search under the authority of United States v. Place (1983) 462 US 696, arguing that smelling contraband inside of a closed container (luggage) did not constitute an unlawful search. Place indeed holds this; however, Real Party misses the larger issue in Place. The odor emitted from the luggage in Place permitted officers to "...detain the luggage briefly to investigate the circumstances that aroused [the officer's] suspicion, provided the investigative detention is properly limited in scope." (U.S. v. Place, supra, 462 U.S. 696, 706) But, *Place* went on to hold that although the luggage could have been detained briefly to determine whether or not it contained narcotics, keeping the luggage over the weekend went well beyond what is permitted by the Fourth Amendment. The Court concluded, "... We conclude that, under all of the circumstances of this case, the seizure of respondent's luggage was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Consequently, the evidence obtained from the subsequent search of his luggage was inadmissible, and Place's conviction must be reversed." (U.S. v. Place, supra, 462 U.S. 696, 710) In Mr. Robey's case, as in Place, while the law permits the closed container's seizure, it does not permit either a prolonged detention or a warrantless search based on an odor that has been detected. A warrant is required.

The fact this container was originally consigned to "Fed Ex", a common carrier, changes nothing; it is entitled to the protections afforded by the Fourth Amendment. (*U.S. v. Jacobsen* 466 U.S. 109, 114-115, 104 S.Ct. 1652, 1657 (U.S.Minn.,1984), wrapped parcel delivered to private freight carrier was unquestionably an "effect" within the meaning of and protected by the Fourth Amendment.) When the Fed Ex employees came to suspect the contents of the container, they called the Santa Maria Police Department. The employees did not independently open the container. (RT 8:24 – 9:5 [Package seized by the officer and taken to police station still sealed]). The container was delivered to police officers who took control of the container, returned to their station with the container in their possession and control, debated what course of action to follow,

and finally decided to open the container at the station. (RT 9: 2-13; 12: 12-22) The container was taken out of the shipping stream by the Fed Ex employees (RT 15: 4-10), and the officers never returned the package to the shipping stream after they took possession of it and searched it. There was no inquiry about the container (package) from anyone until several days later, when the defendant returned to the Fed Ex office to ask about his package. (*Robey v. Superior Court*, supra, at 200 Cal.App.4th 1) Clearly, there was no urgency to take any action related to this container once the container was possessed by the officers.

Real Party misreads the holding in *People v. McKinnon* (1972) 7 Cal. 3d 899. When McKinnon was first decided, it permitted warrantless searches of containers entrusted to common carriers based on probable cause alone. This is no longer the case. McKinnon's holding has been constrained by the holding of Acevedo (supra, only closed containers in automobiles can be searched without a warrant). Secondly, the need for immediate action present in McKinnon and not found here speaks to a far different circumstance than ours. Reviewing the facts in McKinnon illustrates the distance between that case and this one. There, officers were called to the San Diego airport after employees at the United Airlines freight counter, suspecting that five cartons consigned to them contained contraband, opened one of the cartons and discovered contraband. Upon discovering the contraband, the employees called police officers, who confirmed the observations of the employees, and upon learning that an individual with the same name as the consignee of the cartons was scheduled to take a flight to Seattle, the destination for the five cartons, within the hour arrested the men who consigned the cartons and subsequently opened the cartons that had been presented for shipment. The salient factors justifying the search in McKinnon were that the cartons containing contraband were opened by non-governmental agents, and the need to take quick action was obvious (the flight was departing imminently), as the McKinnon court observed:

Here, in sharp contrast [to Coolidge v. New Hampshire (1971) 403 U.S. 443, where the possibility that evidence was contained in the car that was searched was known long before the warrantless search took palace], law enforcement authorities had not "known for some time" of the existence or probable contents of the five cartons presented by defendants for shipment; although defendants were not deliberately fleeing, both were departing from the premises and one was already on board an airplane preparing to fly out of the iurisdiction; the cartons were not resting on private property, but had been consigned to a common carrier for transportation to a remote destination; and there was probable cause to believe (see Part III, post) that the cartons were being "used for an illegal purpose" in that they contained not "mere evidence" but contraband. Each of these factors was specifically found to be lacking in Coolidge; measured by the high court's own standards, therefore, the opportunity to search in the case at bar was much more "fleeting" - and prompt action was far more imperative - than in Coolidge.

People v. McKinnon (1972) 7 Cal.3d 899, 911 [103 Cal.Rptr. 897, 500 P.2d 1097]

Courts have interpreted *Acevedo* and *Chadwick* (as it applies to non-automotive searches) as impliedly over-ruling *McKinnon* with regard to a "general rule" permitting warrantless searches of containers not found within an automobile when there is no exigency requiring a warrantless search. The court in *People v. Yackee* (1984) 161 Cal. App. 3d 843, a case involving a search of a passenger's luggage by the airline company, observed in footnote 2 of the opinion that reliance on *McKinnon* was no longer appropriate:

Respondent urges on us as an alternative grounds for decision the holding in *People v. McKinnon* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 899, 103 Cal.Rptr. 897, 500 P.2d 1097, cert. den. 411 U.S. 931, 93 S.Ct. 1891, 36 L.Ed.2d 390 that packages assigned to a common carrier may be searched without a warrant. This holding of *McKinnon* has been impliedly overruled both by *United States v. Chadwick* (1977) 433 U.S. 1, 97 S.Ct. 2476, 53 L.Ed.2d 538 and *People v. Dalton* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 850, 157 Cal.Rptr. 497, 598 P.2d 467. (Cf. *Bell v. Superior Court* (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 238, 244–45, 161 Cal.Rptr.

455; People v. Sapper (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 301, 304, 162 Cal.Rptr. 360; United States v. Ross (1982) 456 U.S. 798, 102 S.Ct. 2157, 72 L.Ed.2d 572.)

People v. Yackee (1984) 161 Cal.App.3d 843, 848 [208 Cal.Rptr. 44, 47]

The case law is really quite clear: an officer may not search a closed container not found within an automobile without a warrant unless exigent circumstances or some other recognized exception to the warrant requirement permits the warrantless search. Real Party spends considerable time invoking "Proposition 8" (Brief, Pg. 13). This incantation affords no protection, since the only Supreme Court cases directly "on point" support Petitioner:

In addressing particular issues arising under Proposition 8, we look to federal constitutional standards as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court. (*People v. Camacho* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 824, 830, 98 Cal.Rptr.2d 232, 3 P.3d 878.) Decisions of federal district or appellate courts are not binding on us in the absence of a United States Supreme Court decision that is on point. (*People v. Rooney* (1985) 175 Cal.App.3d 634, 644, 221 Cal.Rptr. 49.) In determining federal law in the absence of a definitive United States Supreme Court decision, we are bound by California Supreme Court cases construing federal constitutional provisions. (*Ibid.*) If there is no conflict between state and federal law, state law governs. (*Lance W., supra,* 37 Cal.3d at pp. 886–888, 210 Cal.Rptr. 631, 694 P.2d 744.)

People v. Racklin (2011) 195 Cal. App. 4th 872, 877

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